FARMER BROTHERS CO Form DEF 14A October 26, 2006 UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Amendment No.

)

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Filed by the Registrant xFiled by a Party other than the Registrant OCheck the appropriate box:oPreliminary Proxy StatementoConfidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule 14a-6(e)(2))xDefinitive Proxy StatementoDefinitive Additional MaterialsoSoliciting Material Pursuant to §240.14a-12

FARMER BROS. CO.

(Name of Registrant as Specified In Its Charter)

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if other than the Registrant)

Payment of Filin	g Fee (Check the appropriate box)	к.					
x	No fee required.						
D	Fee computed on table	Fee computed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.					
	(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:					
	(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:					
	(3)	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):					
	(4)	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:					
	(5)	Total fee paid:					
D	Fee paid previously wit	h preliminary materials.					
0	which the offsetting fee Form or Schedule and t	f the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule $0-11(a)(2)$ and identify the filing for was paid previously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the he date of its filing.					
	(1)	Amount Previously Paid:					
	(2)	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:					
	(3)	Filing Party:					
	(4)	Date Filed:					

FARMER BROS. CO.

20333 South Normandie Avenue Torrance, California 90502

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS TO BE HELD ON NOVEMBER 27, 2006

TO THE STOCKHOLDERS OF FARMER BROS. CO.:

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Farmers Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation (the Company or Farmer Bros.), will be held at the principal office of the Company located at 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502 on Monday, November 27, 2006, at 10:00 a.m., Pacific Standard Time, for the following purposes:

1. To elect two Class III directors to the Board of Directors of the Company for a three-year term of office expiring at the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders;

2. To ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007; and

3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof.

The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.

The Board of Directors has fixed the close of business on October 4, 2006, as the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting and at any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof.

By Order of the Board of Directors

John M. Anglin Secretary

Torrance, California October 24, 2006

PLEASE SUBMIT A PROXY AS SOON AS POSSIBLE SO THAT YOUR SHARES CAN BE VOTED AT THE ANNUAL MEETING IN ACCORDANCE WITH YOUR INSTRUCTIONS. FOR SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS ON VOTING, PLEASE REFER TO THE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE PROXY CARD OR THE INFORMATION FORWARDED BY YOUR BROKER, BANK OR OTHER HOLDER OF RECORD. ESOP PARTICIPANTS SHOULD FOLLOW THE INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED BY THE ESOP TRUSTEE, GREATBANC TRUST COMPANY. EVEN IF YOU HAVE VOTED YOUR PROXY, YOU MAY STILL VOTE IN PERSON IF YOU ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING. PLEASE NOTE, HOWEVER, THAT IF YOUR SHARES ARE HELD OF RECORD BY A BROKER, BANK OR OTHER NOMINEE AND YOU WISH TO VOTE IN PERSON AT THE ANNUAL MEETING, YOU MUST OBTAIN A PROXY ISSUED IN YOUR NAME FROM SUCH BROKER, BANK OR OTHER NOMINEE.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. PLEASE VOTE WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PROXY STATEMENT	1
General	1
Who Can Vote	1
Solicitation of Proxies	1
Voting of Shares	1
Voting by ESOP Participants	2
Counting of Votes	2
Shares Outstanding and Quorum	2
Proxy Card and Revocation of Proxy	2
ITEM 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS	4
ITEM 2 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	8
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS	9
Directors and Executive Officers	9
Principal Stockholders	10
BOARD AND COMMITTEE MATTERS	11
Board Meetings and Attendance	11
Corporate Governance	11
Charters: Code of Conduct: Code of Ethics	11
Director Independence	11
Committees	12
Audit Committee	12
Nominating Committee	12
Compensation Committee	13
Search Committee	13
Compensation and Indemnification of Directors	13
Annual Retainer and Meeting Fees	13
Annual Chair Fees	14
Other Benefits	14
Indemnification	14
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS	15
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION	16
Summary Compensation Table	16
Incentive Compensation Plans	17
1982 Incentive Compensation Plan	17
2005 Incentive Compensation Plan	17
Other Benefits and Compensation	17
Indemnification	17
Retirement Plan	18
Employment Agreement and Change in Control Arrangements	18
Employment Agreement	18
Change in Control Arrangements	19
Compensation Committee Report	20
Compensation Committee	20
Compensation Philosophy and Objectives	20
Total Compensation	20
Laverty Employment Agreement	23
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation	23
PERFORMANCE GRAPH	23 24
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRASACTIONS	24
	25

26
26
26
28
28
28
28
28
29
29
30
A-1

FARMER BROS. CO.

20333 South Normandie Avenue Torrance, California 90502

PROXY STATEMENT

INFORMATION CONCERNING VOTING AND SOLICITATION

General

The enclosed proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors (the Board of Directors or the Board) of Farmer Bros. Co., a Delaware corporation (the Company or Farmer Bros.), for use at the 2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the Annual Meeting) to be held on Monday, November 27, 2006, at 10:00 a.m., Pacific Standard Time, or at any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof, for the purposes discussed in this Proxy Statement and in the accompanying Notice of Annual Meeting, and any business properly brought before the Annual Meeting. Proxies are solicited to give all stockholders of record an opportunity to vote on matters properly presented at the Annual Meeting. The Company intends to mail this Proxy Statement and accompanying proxy card on or about October 26, 2006 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. The Annual Meeting will be held at the principal office of the Company located at 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502.

Who Can Vote

You are entitled to vote if you were a stockholder of record of Farmer Bros. common stock (Common Stock) as of the close of business on October 4, 2006. Your shares may be voted at the Annual Meeting only if you are present in person or represented by a valid proxy.

Solicitation of Proxies

The Company will bear the entire cost of solicitation of proxies, including preparation, assembly and mailing of this Proxy Statement, the proxy and any additional information furnished to stockholders. Copies of solicitation materials will be furnished to banks, brokerage houses, fiduciaries and custodians holding shares of Common Stock in their names that are beneficially owned by others to forward to these beneficial owners. The Company may reimburse persons representing beneficial owners for their costs of forwarding the solicitation materials to the beneficial owners. Original solicitation of proxies by mail may be supplemented by telephone, facsimile, electronic mail or personal solicitation by directors, officers or employees of the Company. No additional compensation will be paid to directors, officers or employees for such services. A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available for examination by any stockholder for any purpose germane to the Annual Meeting during ordinary business hours at the offices of the Company located at 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502 for the ten days prior to the Annual Meeting and also at the Annual Meeting.

Voting of Shares

Stockholders of record as of the close of business on October 4, 2006 are entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held on all matters to be voted upon at the Annual Meeting. There is no cumulative voting in the election of our directors. You may vote by attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person. You may also vote by completing and mailing the enclosed proxy card or the form forwarded by your bank, broker or other holder of record. If your shares are held by a bank, broker or other nominee, please refer to the instructions they provide for voting your shares. Participants in the Farmer Bros. Co. Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the ESOP) should follow the instructions provided by the ESOP trustee, GreatBanc Trust Company. All shares entitled to vote and represented by properly executed proxies received before the polls are closed at the Annual Meeting, and not revoked or superseded, will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions indicated on those proxies.

YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT. PLEASE VOTE WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING.

1

Voting by ESOP Participants

The ESOP owns approximately 18.6% of the outstanding Common Stock. Full time employees of Farmer Bros. participate in the ESOP. Each ESOP participant has the right to direct the ESOP trustee on how to vote the shares of Common Stock allocated to his or her account under the ESOP. If an ESOP participant properly executes the proxy distributed by the ESOP trustee, the ESOP trustee will vote the shares represented by that proxy at the Annual Meeting. Shares of Common Stock represented by properly executed proxies will be voted by the ESOP trustee in accordance with the stockholder s instructions. The ESOP trustee will vote all of the unallocated ESOP shares (i.e., shares of Common Stock held in the ESOP, but not allocated to any participant s account) and allocated shares which ESOP participants have failed to vote in the same proportion as the voted allocated shares with respect to such issue. If other matters are presented for a vote at the Annual Meeting, the shares for which proxies have been received will be voted in accordance with the discretion of the proxies.

Counting of Votes

All votes will be tabulated by the inspector of election appointed for the Annual Meeting, who will separately tabulate affirmative and negative votes, abstentions and broker non-votes. Shares held by persons attending the Annual Meeting but not voting, shares represented by proxies that reflect abstentions as to a particular proposal and broker non-votes will be counted as present for purposes of determining a quorum. A broker non-vote occurs when a nominee holding shares for a beneficial owner has not received instructions from the beneficial owner and does not have discretionary authority to vote the shares.

Directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast, so abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted in determining which nominees received the largest number of votes cast. This means the two nominees for election to the Board at the Annual Meeting who receive the largest number of properly cast for votes will be elected as directors.

The ratification of the selection of Ernst & Young LLP (EY) requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the matter. Abstentions will have the same effect as votes against such proposal and broker non-votes will have no effect on the result of the votes on such proposal.

Shares Outstanding and Quorum

At the close of business on October 4, 2006, 16,075,080 shares of Common Stock were outstanding and entitled to vote. The Company has no other class of securities outstanding. A majority of the outstanding shares of Common Stock, present in person or represented by proxy, will constitute a quorum at the Annual Meeting.

Proxy Card and Revocation of Proxy

You may vote by completing and mailing the enclosed proxy card. If you sign the proxy card but do not specify how you want your shares to be voted, your shares will be voted by the proxy holders named in the enclosed proxy: (i) in favor of the election of all of the director nominees; and (ii) in favor of ratification of the selection of EY as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007. In their discretion, the proxy holders named in the enclosed proxy are authorized to vote on any other matters that may properly come before the Annual Meeting and at any continuation, postponement or adjournment thereof. A stockholder submitted a proposal relating to director indemnification for inclusion in this Proxy Statement which Farmer Bros. omitted pursuant to Rule 14a-8 of the Securities and Exchange Commission s proxy rules. If the stockholder should present the proposal at the Annual Meeting, it is the intention of the persons named in the proxy to vote against such

proposal. The Board of Directors knows of no other items of business that will be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting other than those described in this Proxy Statement. In addition, other than one stockholder proposal relating to director indemnification properly omitted from this Proxy Statement under SEC rules, no other stockholder proposal was received on a timely basis, so no such matters may be brought to a vote at the Annual Meeting.

If you vote by proxy, you may revoke that proxy at any time before it is voted at the Annual Meeting. Stockholders of record may revoke a proxy by sending to the Company s Secretary at the Company s principal office at 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502, a written notice of revocation or a duly executed proxy bearing a later date or by attending the Annual Meeting in person and voting in person. Attendance at the meeting will not, by itself, revoke a proxy. If your shares are held in the name of a broker, bank or other nominee, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your bank, broker or other nominee. Please note that if your shares are held of record by a bank, broker or other nominee, and you decide to attend and vote at the Annual Meeting, your vote in person at the Annual Meeting will not be effective unless you present a legal proxy, issued in your name from the record holder, your bank, broker or other nominee.

ITEM 1 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Under the Company s Certificate of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws (the Bylaws), the Board of Directors is divided into three classes, each class consisting, as nearly as possible, of one-third of the total number of directors, with members of each class serving for a three-year term. Class III consists of two directors, continuing in office until this year s Annual Meeting. Class I consists of three directors, continuing in office until the 2007 Annual Meeting. Class II consists of two directors, continuing in office until the 2008 Annual Meeting. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors that results from an increase in the number of directors may be filled by a majority of the Board of Directors that a quorum is present, and any other vacancy occurring on the Board of Directors may be filled by a majority of the Board of Directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. Any director of any class elected to fill a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors will have the same remaining term of that class. Any director elected to fill a vacancy not resulting from an increase in the number of directors will have the same remaining term as that of his or her predecessor.

The election of the Company s directors requires a plurality of the votes cast, so abstentions and broker non-votes will not be counted in determining which nominees received the largest number of votes cast. This means the two nominees for election to the Board at the Annual Meeting who receive the largest number of properly cast for votes will be elected as directors.

Each share of Common Stock is entitled to one vote for each of the two director nominees. Cumulative voting is not permitted. It is the intention of the proxy holders named in the enclosed proxy to vote the proxies received by them for the election of the two nominees named below unless authorization to do so is withheld. If any nominee should become unavailable for election prior to the Annual Meeting, an event that currently is not anticipated by the Board, the proxies will be voted for the election of a substitute nominee or nominees proposed by the Nominating Committee of the Board of Directors. Each person nominated for election has agreed to serve if elected, and the Board of Directors has no reason to believe that any nominee will be unable to serve.

Based on the recommendation of the Nominating Committee, Carol Farmer Waite and John H. Merrell are nominees for re-election to the Board as Class III directors. Each of the nominees would serve until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until such director s earlier death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. If elected at the Annual Meeting, Ms. Waite and Mr. Merrell would each serve until the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. No nominations were made by stockholders.

All of the present directors were elected to their current terms by the stockholders, with the exception of Carol Farmer Waite who was appointed by the Board on January 14, 2005, filling a vacancy created by the death of Roy E. Farmer on January 7, 2005. The Board has determined that all nominees for election to the Board at the Annual Meeting and all continuing directors are independent under the revised listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market, Inc. (NASDAQ), except for Messrs. Carson and Berger and Ms. Waite. The Board considered Mr. Coffman s prior employment by the Company as Vice President, Sales from 1981 to 1986, and Messrs. Merrell and Samore s membership on the Company s ESOP Administrative Committee, and determined that such relationships do not interfere with their exercise of independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities as directors.

Set forth below is biographical information for each nominee and for each person whose term of office as a director will continue after the Annual Meeting. There are no family relationships among any directors of the Company. Other than as disclosed in the table below, none of the directors is a director of any other publicly-held company.

Nominees for Election to a Three-Year Term Expiring at the 2009 Annual Meeting

Name	Age	Served as Director Continuously Since	Board Committee Membership	Principal Occupation for the Last Five Years
Carol Farmer Waite	59	2005	None	Retired school teacher with Fountain Valley School District from 1971 through 2004.
John H. Merrell	62	2001	Audit Committee Compensation Committee Nominating Committee Search Committee	Partner in Accounting Firm of Hutchinson and Bloodgood LLP, Glendale, California.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR EACH NAMED NOMINEE.

Directors Continuing in Office Until the 2007 Annual Meeting

Name	Age	Served as Director Continuously Since	Board Committee Membership	Principal Occupation for the Last Five Years
Lewis A. Coffman	87	1983	Compensation Committee Nominating Committee Search Committee	Retired (former Vice President, Sales from 1981 to 1986).
Kenneth R. Carson	66	2004	None	Retired (former Vice President, Sales from March 1990 through July 30, 2004).
John Samore, Jr.	60	2003	Audit Committee Compensation Committee Nominating Committee Search Committee	Independent Consultant and CPA, Los Angeles, California since 2003; Tax Partner with Arthur Andersen LLP, Los Angeles, California, from 1971 to 2002.

Directors Continuing in Office Until the 2008 Annual Meeting

Name	Age	Served as Director Continuously Since	Board Committee Membership	Principal Occupation for the Last Five Years
Guenter W. Berger	69	1980	Search Committee	Chairman and CEO since
				August 11, 2005; President
				from August 11, 2005
				through July 23, 2006;
				Interim President and CEO
				from January 9, 2005 through
				August 10, 2005; Vice
				President, Production prior to
				January 9, 2005.

Name	Age	Served as Director Continuously Since	Board Committee Membership	Principal Occupation for the Last Five Years
Thomas A. Maloof	54	2003	Audit Committee Compensation Committee Nominating Committee	Independent Consultant since June 2005; Chief Financial Officer of Hospitality Marketing Concepts, LLC, Irvine, California, a provider of loyalty membership programs for the hospitality and leisure industries, from 2001 through June 2005; President of Perinatal Practice Management Alfigen The Genetics Institute, Pasadena, California, a national genetic testing provider, from 1999-2001. Mr. Maloof is also a director of PC Mall, Inc., a publicly traded company listed on NASDAQ.

ITEM 2 RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee of the Board has selected Ernst & Young LLP as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2007, and has further directed that management submit the selection of the independent registered public accounting firm for ratification by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. EY has audited the Company s financial statements since 1997. A representative of EY is expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will have the opportunity to make a statement if he or she so desires and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

Stockholder ratification of the selection of EY as the Company s independent registered public accounting firm is not required by the Bylaws or otherwise. However, the Board is submitting the selection of EY to the stockholders for ratification as a matter of corporate practice. If the stockholders fail to ratify the selection, the Audit Committee will reconsider whether or not to retain that firm. Even if the selection is ratified, the Audit Committee in its discretion may direct the appointment of a different independent accounting firm at any time during the year if the Audit Committee determines that such a change would be in the best interests of the Company and its stockholders.

The vote FOR this proposal by the holders of a majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote is required to ratify the selection of EY.

THE BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR RATIFICATION OF THE SELECTION OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as of October 17, 2006 by: (i) each director and nominee; (ii) the Company s Chief Executive Officer, and each of its other most highly compensated executive officers for fiscal 2006 (collectively, the Named Executive Officers); and (iii) all directors and nominees, Named Executive Officers and executive officers of the Company as a group. Roger M. Laverty III, the Company s current President and Chief Operating Officer, is not listed in the table because he was not a Named Executive Officer during fiscal 2006. Mr. Laverty is included in the number of directors and executive officers as a group; however, as of October 17, 2006, Mr. Laverty did not beneficially own any shares of Common Stock.

Name	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership	
Guenter W. Berger	8,936 (2	*
Kenneth R. Carson	5,357 (3) *
Lewis A. Coffman	150	*
Michael J. King	3,551 (4	•) *
Thomas A. Maloof	1,000 (5	*
John H. Merrell	500 (6) *
John Samore, Jr.	500 (7	*)
John E. Simmons	7,596 (8	*
Carol Farmer Waite	6,315,514 (9) 39.3 %
All directors and executive officers as a group (11 persons)	6,343,104	39.5 %

^{*} Less than 1%

(1) Information in this table is based on the Company s records and information provided by directors, nominees, Named Executive Officers and executive officers. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes and subject to community property laws where applicable, each of the directors and nominees, Named Executive Officers and executive officers has sole voting and/or investment power with respect to such shares.

(2) Includes 5,060 shares held in trust with voting and investment power shared by Mr. Berger and his wife, and 3,876 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Berger through the ESOP, rounded to the nearest whole share.

(3) Includes 1,500 shares owned outright, 2,857 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Carson through an IRA and 1,000 shares voted as custodian for Mr. Carson s minor grandchildren.

- (4) Beneficially owned by Mr. King through the ESOP, rounded to the nearest whole share.
- (5) Beneficially owned by Mr. Maloof through an IRA.
- (6) Held in a revocable living trust with voting and investment power shared by Mr. Merrell and his wife.
- (7) Held in a revocable living trust with voting and investment power shared by Mr. Samore and his wife.

(8) Includes 3,720 shares owned outright and 3,876 shares beneficially owned by Mr. Simmons through the ESOP, rounded to the nearest whole share.

(9) Held in a family limited partnership (the Farmer Family Partnership) and various family trusts of which Ms. Waite (or a trust of which she is the sole trustee) is a general partner or the sole trustee, co-trustee, beneficiary and/or settlor. Ms. Waite is the indirect beneficial owner of: (i) 21,820 shares of Common Stock held in a revocable living trust of which she is the sole trustee, beneficiary and settlor (the Waite Trust), and over which she has sole voting and dispositive power; (ii) 2,617,530 shares of Common Stock as sole trustee of the Waite Trust which is a general partner of the Farmer Family Partnership, and over which she has shared voting and dispositive power with trusts for the benefit of Jeanne Farmer Grossman and Richard F. Farmer; and (iii) 3,695,162 shares of Common Stock as successor co-trustee of various family trusts, for the benefit of herself and family members, and over which she has shared voting and dispositive power with Jeanne Farmer Grossman and/or Richard F. Farmer. Ms. Waite disclaims beneficial ownership of 18,998 shares held in trusts for the benefit of her niece and nephews.

Principal Stockholders

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of the Common Stock as of October 17, 2006 (except as otherwise stated in the footnotes), by all persons (including any group deemed a person under Rule 13d-3 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act)) known by the Company to be a beneficial owner of more than five percent (5%) of the Common Stock as of such date:

Name of Beneficial Owner	Amount and Nature of Beneficial Ownership(1)	Percent of Class
Farmer Group	6,399,822 shares(2)	39.8 %
Employee Stock Ownership Plan	2,986,016 shares(3)	18.6 %
Franklin Mutual Advisers, LLC	2,093,533 shares(4)	13.0 %

(1) Information in this table regarding beneficial owners of more than five percent (5%) of the Common Stock is based on information provided by them or obtained from filings under the Exchange Act. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes and subject to community property laws where applicable, each of the beneficial owners of more than five percent (5%) of the Common Stock has sole voting and/or investment power with respect to such shares. The address for all beneficial owners except Franklin Mutual Advisers, LLC is c/o Farmer Bros. Co., 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502.

(2) For purposes of Section 13 of the Exchange Act, Carol Farmer Waite, Richard F. Farmer, Jeanne Farmer Grossman, Trust A created under the Roy E. Farmer Trust dated October 11, 1957 (Trust A) and Farmer Equities, LP, a California limited partnership, comprise a group (the Farmer Group). The Farmer Group is deemed to be the beneficial owner of all shares beneficially owned by its members with shared power to vote and dispose of such shares. Each member of the Farmer Group is the beneficial owner of the following shares (in accordance with the beneficial ownership regulations, in certain cases the same shares of Common Stock are shown as beneficially owned by more than one individual or entity):

Name of Beneficial Owner	Total Shares Beneficially Owned	Percent of Class	Shares Disclaimed	Sole Voting and Dispositive Power	Shared Voting and Dispositive Power
Carol Farmer Waite	6,315,514 shares	39.3 %	18,998 shares	21,820 shares	6,312,692 shares
Richard F. Farmer	6,290,800 shares	28.3 %	43,510 shares	21,820 shares	6,312,490 shares
Jeanne Farmer Grossman	4,130,952 shares	25.7 %	6,030 shares	9,550 shares	4,127,432 shares
Trust A	1,463,640 shares	9.1 %		1,463,640 shares	
Farmer Equities, LP	2,617,530 shares	16.3 %		2,617,530 shares	

(3) As of June 30, 2006, there were 846,737 allocated shares and 2,139,279 shares as yet unallocated to plan participants. The Trustee of the ESOP votes the shares held by the ESOP that are allocated to participant accounts as directed by the participants or beneficiaries of the ESOP. Under the terms of the ESOP, unallocated shares and allocated shares which ESOP participants have failed to vote will be voted proportionately to the vote of allocated shares by ESOP participants. The present members of the ESOP Administrative Committee are Roger M. Laverty III, John H. Merrell and John Samore, Jr. Each member of the ESOP Administrative Committee disclaims beneficial ownership of the securities held by the ESOP except for those that have been allocated to the member as a participant in the ESOP.

(4) Franklin Mutual Advisers, LLC (Franklin) is reported to have sole voting and investment power over these shares pursuant to certain investment advisory contracts with one or more of Franklin s clients, which advisory clients are the record owners of the 2,093,533 shares. Franklin s address is 51 John F. Kennedy Parkway, Short Hills, New Jersey 07078, Attention: Bradley Takahashi.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE MATTERS

Board Meetings and Attendance

The Board held four meetings during fiscal 2006. Each director attended at least 75% of the total number of meetings of the Board of Directors (held during the period for which he or she has been a director) and committees of the Board on which he or she served (during the periods that he or she served) during fiscal 2006. In addition, the independent directors held four executive sessions during fiscal 2006. Each independent director attended at least 75% of the total number of executive sessions during fiscal 2006.

Although it is customary for all Board members to attend, the Company has no formal policy in place with regard to Board members attendance at its annual meetings of stockholders. All members of the Board were present at the 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders held on November 28, 2005.

Corporate Governance

Charters; Code of Conduct; Code of Ethics

The Board maintains charters for the Audit, Compensation and Nominating Committees. In addition, the Board has adopted a written Code of Conduct for all employees, officers and directors, and a Code of Ethics, within the meaning of Item 406(b) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act, applicable to the Company s Chief Executive Officer and the Company s Chief Financial Officer, who is also the Company s principal accounting officer. A copy of the amended and restated Audit Committee Charter adopted by the Board on August 24, 2006 is attached hereto as Annex A. Current committee charters, the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics are available to stockholders on the Company s website at *www.farmerbroscousa.com*.

Director Independence

The Board believes that the interests of the stockholders are best served by having a number of objective, independent representatives on the Board. For this purpose, a director will be considered to be independent only if the Board affirmatively determines that the director as no relationship with the Company that would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director.

The Board has recently evaluated all relationships between each director and Farmer Bros. and has made the following determinations with respect to each director s independence:

Director	Status
Guenter W. Berger	Not independent(1)
Kenneth R. Carson	Not independent(2)
Lewis A. Coffman	Independent(3)
Thomas A. Maloof	Independent
John H. Merrell	Independent(3)
John Samore, Jr.	Independent(3)
Carol Farmer Waite	Not independent(4)

(1) Mr. Berger is the Chairman and CEO of Farmer Bros. and, therefore, is not independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements.

(2) Mr. Carson was previously Vice President, Sales of the Company from March 1990 through July 30, 2004. Since Mr. Carson was employed by the Company within the past three years, he is not independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements.

11

(3) The Board considered Mr. Coffman s prior employment by the Company as Vice President, Sales from 1981 to 1986, and Messrs. Merrell and Samore s membership on the Company s ESOP Administrative Committee, and determined that such relationships do not interfere with their exercise of independent judgment in carrying out their responsibilities as directors.

(4) Ms. Waite is the sister of the late Roy E. Farmer and the daughter of the late Roy F. Farmer. Both Roy E. Farmer and Roy F. Farmer were employed by the Company up until their deaths in 2005 and 2004, respectively. As a result, Ms. Waite is not independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements.

Committees

The Board maintains the following committees to assist it in discharging its oversight responsibilities:

Audit Committee

The Company has a standing Audit Committee established in accordance with applicable provisions of the Exchange Act. The Audit Committee s principal purposes are to oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Company, the audits of the financial statements of the Company, and the qualifications and independence of the Company s independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee carries out its responsibilities in accordance with the terms of its charter. During fiscal 2006, the Audit Committee met four times. John H. Merrell serves as Chairman, and Thomas A. Maloof and John Samore, Jr. serve as members of the Audit Committee. The Board has determined that at least one member of the Audit Committee is an audit committee financial expert as defined in Item 401(h)(2) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act. That person is John H. Merrell, the Audit Committee Chairman. Mr. Merrell is independent as that term is used in Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act. The Board has determined that all Audit Committee members are independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements. The Audit Committee meets the NASDAQ composition requirements, including the requirements regarding financial literacy and financial sophistication.

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee is a standing committee of the Board and is comprised of Lewis A. Coffman, Thomas A. Maloof, John H. Merrell and John Samore, Jr. The principal purposes of the Nominating Committee are to identify persons qualified to become Board members and to recommend to the Board individuals to be selected as director nominees for the next annual meeting of stockholders or for appointment to vacancies on the Board. The Board has determined that all Nominating Committee members are independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements.

The Nominating Committee believes that its slate of nominees should include: the Chief Executive Officer of the Company; one or more nominees with upper management experience with the Company, in the coffee industry, in a complementary industry or who has desired professional expertise; three nominees who are independent and have the requisite accounting or financial qualifications to serve on the Audit Committee; and at least three nominees who are independent and have executive compensation experience to serve on the Compensation Committee. All nominees should contribute substantially to the Board s oversight responsibilities. The Nominating Committee met one time in fiscal 2006 to nominate directors for election at the 2005 Annual Meeting.

The Nominating Committee will consider recommendations for director nominees from Company stockholders. Biographical information and contact information for proposed candidates should be sent to Farmer Bros. Co., 20333 South Normandie Avenue, Torrance, California 90502, Attention: Secretary, subject to the notice provisions described below under the caption Other Matters Stockholder Proposals

and Nominations. The Nominating Committee will evaluate candidates proposed by stockholders using the following criteria: Board needs (see discussion of slate of nominees above); relevant business experience; time availability; absence of conflicts of interest; and perceived ability to contribute to the Company s success.

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee is a standing committee of the Board. Thomas A. Maloof serves as Chairman, and Lewis A. Coffman, John H. Merrell and John Samore, Jr. serve as members of the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee is responsible for assessing the overall compensation structure of the Company and for administering and reviewing all executive compensation programs, incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans, and all other executive compensation and benefit programs currently in place at the Company. Additionally, the Compensation Committee is responsible for reviewing and evaluating the performance of the Company's executive officers (including the Chief Executive Officer) and setting compensation for executive officers based on such evaluations. The Compensation Committee members are independent under the revised NASDAQ listing requirements.

Search Committee